ROBOT-ASSISTED MEASUREMENT IN DATA-SPARSE REGIONS

 $\mathbf{B}\mathbf{Y}$

SIERRA YOUNG

THESIS

Submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science in Civil Engineering in the Graduate College of the University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign, 2015

Urbana, Illinois

Adviser:

Professor Joshua Peschel

ABSTRACT

This work investigated the use of low-cost robots, small unmanned aerial vehicles (UAVs) and small unmanned surface vehicles (USVs), to assist researchers in environmental data collection in the Arkavathy River Basin in Karnataka, India. In the late 20th century, river flows in the Arkavathy began to decline severely, and Bangalore's dependence on the basin for local water supply shifted while the causes of drying remain unknown. Due to the lack of available data for the region, it is difficult for water management agencies to address the issue of declining surface flows; by collecting critical hydrologic data accurately and efficiently through the use of robots, where data is not available or accessible, local water resources can more easily be managed for the greater Bangalore region.

Three case study sites, including two irrigation tanks and one urban lake, within the Arkavathy basin were selected where unmanned aerial vehicles and unmanned surface vehicles collected data in the form of aerial imagery and bathymetric measurements. The data were further processed into 3D textured surface models and exported as digital elevations models (DEMs) for post-processing in GIS. From the DEMs, topographic and bathymetric maps were created and storage volumes and surface areas are calculated by relating water surface levels to tank bathymetry. The results are stage-storage and stage-surface area relationships for each case study site. These relationships provide valuable information relating to groundwater recharge and streamflow generation. Sensitivity analysis showed that the topographic surface data used in the stage-storage and stage-surface area curves was validated within ± 0.35 meters. By providing these relationships and curves, researchers can further understand hydrologic processes in the Arkavathy River Basin and inform local water management policies.

From these case studies, three formative observations were made, relating to i) interpretation of the data fusion process using information collected from both UAV and USV systems; ii) observations for the human-robot interactions for USV and; iii) field observations for deployment and retrieval in water environments with low accessibility. This work is of interest to hydrologists and geoscientists who can use this methodology to assist in data collection and enhance their understanding of environmental processes.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to express my gratitude and sincere appreciation to my advisor, Dr. Joshua Peschel, who has guided me through this entire project. I appreciate the opportunity to work in his research group and for leading me through this exciting, rewarding, and at times stressful field work. Contributing to this project has been very enjoyable. It is noteworthy that, without the advice and mentorship of Dr. Peschel this work would not have been possible.

I would also like to thank Dr. Sally Thompson at UC Berkeley and Veena Srinivasan at the Ashoka Trust for Research in the Environment and Ecology (ATREE) for their support and collaboration during this project. Without the generous assistance of Gopal Penny, Tejas Kulkarni, Manju Sonu, and Chidu Varan who assisted in navigating the field sites and serving as liaisons between the locals and researchers this investigation would have been impossible. They made me feel welcome during my summer abroad.

Additionally, I would like to thank my parents and my sister who serve as my main support system. Without their aid, encouragement, and support, graduate school would not have been a reality. I also thank my friends and fellow lab mates, Jeffery Wallace, D.P. Hauser, Shannon O'Brien, and Caylee Coffman for their encouragement and friendship. This group has made my time at Illinois enjoyable.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 Research Question	1
1.2 Why Focus on the Arkavathy River Basin	2
1.3 Why Focus on Small, Unmanned Vehicles	2
1.4 Understanding Small, Unmanned Vehicles	3
1.5 Importance to Civil and Environmental Engineering	5
1.6 Contributions	6
1.7 Organization of This Thesis	7
CHAPTER 2 LITERATURE REVIEW	8
2.1 Field Robotics-Related Applications for Unmanned Vehicles	8
2.2 Topographic and Bathymetric Data Gathering	10
CHAPTER 3 METHODOLOGY	13
3.1 Region of Interest	13
3.2 Field Case Studies	16
3.3 Equipment and Setup	19
3.4 UAV Image Processing Workflow	21
3.5 USV Data Processing	23
3.6 UAV and USV Data Fusion	23
CHAPTER 4 IMPLEMENTATION	24
4.1 Field Case Studies	24
CHAPTER 5 RESULTS	33
5.1 Hadonahalli Tank	33
5.2 Nelamangala Lake	35
5.3 SM Gollahalli Tank	37
CHAPTER 6 DISCUSSION	42
6.1 Time Discussion	42
6.2 Ease of Implementation Discussion	43
6.3 Overall Effort Discussion	43
6.4 Formative Observations	43
CHAPTER 7 CONCLUSION	46

,	7.1 Summary	46
,	7.2 Special Considerations	47
,	7.3 Future Work	48
RE	EFERENCES	49

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

1.1 Research Question

In the late 20th century, river flows in the Arkavathy River Basin began to decline severely, and the dependence on the basin for local water supply shifted while the causes of drying remain unknown [1]. To effectively manage local water resources, it is critical to understand the drivers behind the changes in river flows, especially the quantification of anthropogenic changes in the watershed via the construction of hundreds of irrigation tanks. By obtaining bathymetry information of irrigation tanks and lakes in this region, local researchers can better understand physical properties of these water environments. The tanks in the Arkavathy largely serve as unmanaged groundwater recharge basins, and by quantifying these storage volumes one can understand groundwater recharge and streamflow. This information will help locals attempting to rejuvenate Bangalore's urban lakes calculate lake volume, track shoreline development, understand the potential for biological productivity, and quantify sedimentation.

Collecting environmental measurements in extremely data sparse regions such as the Arkavathy Basin is difficult, especially at a temporal frequency that keeps pace with expected human impacts and environmental changes. Currently, satellite imagery and LiDAR are the two standard methods to collect topographic and bathymetric data for this region, but both options are either lacking appropriate resolution or too costly [2]; thus, there is a need for a low-cost, highly mobile platform to collect environmental data in developing, data-sparse regions.

This study proposes a methodology for topographic and bathymetric data collection using small, low-cost robotics platforms to collect important hydrologic information in the Arkavathy watershed around Bangalore, India. Both unmanned aerial vehicles (UAVs) and unmanned surface vehicles (USVs) were used. By collecting critical hydrological data accurately and efficiently

where this information is not available or accessible, local water resources can more easily be managed both now and in the future. Additionally, this robot-assisted approach for data gathering will be of interest to civil and environmental engineers, hydrologists, and geoscientists, especially those operating with budget constraints in data sparse regions.

1.2 Why Focus on the Arkavathy River Basin

Before the late 20th century, the Arkavathy River Basin had the capacity to supply Bangalore, a major metropolitan city of over 10 million people in southern India, with all of its municipal water needs [1]. Now, however, Bangalore has shifted nearly its entire dependence to the Cauvery River due to the drying of the Arkavathy [3]. Multiple studies have been conducted to understand the drying of the basin, but to date no conclusions have been reached. The issues related to water supply and management in the Arkavathy are of considerable interest due to the ever increasing population of Bangalore, its surrounding municipalities, and the country of India as a whole, which will undoubtedly stress future water supplies. Understanding the anthropogenic influences on the Arkavathy watershed is critical in assisting mitigation efforts and developing sustainable solutions for managing water resources, and information gathered during this field study will be used to inform local hydrologists on unmapped shallow water environments while improving data-sparseness.

1.3 Why Focus on Small, Unmanned Vehicles

Unmanned vehicles, including USVs and UAVs, are becoming extremely popular for environmental sensing applications for the following reasons: they are low cost compared to manned systems; they are highly versatile and efficient in terms of sensing payload technologies; and they keep humans out of dangerous or harmful environment situations [4,5]. Small unmanned vehicles offer the potential to collect information at high temporal frequencies with the ability to cover large spatial areas. These are critical factors when gathering information in data sparse regions with the goal of improving information availability. In the Arkavathy watershed, there are three types of environments where unmanned vehicles are ideal for gathering data: irrigation tanks that remain dry outside of monsoon seasons, partially submerged tanks that fill during monsoons, and completely submerged tanks and lakes. To successfully and accurately collect topographic and bathymetric information in all three of these environments within the same time and spatial resolution, using UAVs, USVs, and a combination of both platforms can provide a complete set of measurements.

1.4 Understanding Small, Unmanned Vehicles

Unmanned systems, including UAVs and USVs, have been in use for over 60 years for various environmental, military, and search and rescue purposes [6]. Both of these unmanned platforms remove the operator from the system and allow for diverse methods of remote operation with varying degrees of autonomy [5].

1.4.1 Small Unmanned Aerial Vehicles

Of all UAV systems, small UAVs represent the smallest size, range, altitude, and endurance, and they are the type typically used for environmental sensing applications [7]. Small UAVs allow a human team, which is usually co-located, to remotely navigate and visualize information in environments where humans or other ground-based robots are not practical [7]. In this category, small UAVs are fixed wing or rotary wing types typically up to 2 m in size, can carry a payload up to approximately 2 kg, and, depending on payload weight, can operate for up to 1 hour. There are a wide variety of commercially platforms available; a few examples are shown in Figure 1.1.



Figure 1.1: Various small UAV platforms. (a) DJI Phantom 3: .59m diagonal size, aircraft weight of 1.28 kg, ~10-15 minutes in flight time. (b) Draganflyer X-6: .84 m wide, aircraft weight of ~2kg, can carry up to 335 grams, up to 25 minutes in flight time. (c) 3D Robotics Aero fixed-wing, 1.88 m wingspan, payload capacity of up to 2kg, 40 minutes flight time.

1.4.2 Small Unmanned Surface Vehicles

USVs operate on the surface of the water and are either remotely operated or auto-piloted through radio, Wi-Fi, cellular network, or satellite. USVs take advantage of their air-sea interface to serve as a bridge between heterogeneous air, ground, and marine platforms to introduce new understandings in environmental monitoring, disaster rescue, surveillance, warfare, and defense applications [8]. Small USVs are typically up to 3 m in length, have operational endurances of up to 4 hours, and due to their smaller size are easily deployable in varying water environments [9]. An example of "micro" (< 1.5 min length) and small (< 3 m in length) USV platforms are shown below in Figure 1.2.



Figure 1.2: Examples of small USV platforms. (a) USV developed by Kaizu (2011), up to 150 kg payload, 1.42 x 1.2 meters in size, 6 hours operation on maximum engine output. (b) The Pioneer, by NjordWorks Inc. 1.07 x 0.64 meters in size, 0.2-1 hour endurance. (c) USV developed by the Center for Robot-Assisted Search & Rescue at Texas A&M University. 1.9 x 1.2 meters in size, 4-6 hour endurance depending on currents.

1.5 Importance to Civil and Environmental Engineering

USVs and UAVs are becoming increasingly popular for various civil and environmental applications. For example: UAVs have been used for terrestrial surveying and monitoring, construction management, and disaster response; USVs have been used for environmental sensing, in-situ sampling, and defense applications. Investigating and developing new uses and sensing applications for both of these platforms are important to improve their use in collecting crucial environmental measurements.

Despite the growing popularity and availability of USVs, platforms that are low-cost, customizable, and highly mobile that can be easily deployed for environmental sensing applications are lacking. This study investigates the use of a custom USV and affordable,

commercially available sonar equipment to generate an economical alternative to existing bathymetric surveying platforms.

In landscapes like the Arkavathy Basin that are continually changing due to human intervention, it is important to develop high temporal topographic surveying methods. Inexpensive, commercially available UAVs and imaging sensors provide a viable solution, and this study provides a case study application for the first time in rural Karnataka, India.

When investigating topography of regions that are partially submerged, there is a need to collect and merge topographic data with bathymetry. To the best of the author's knowledge, no standard platforms or processes exist for this type of data fusion. In this study, a field site is chosen and sub-surface/above-surface measurements are combined to provide complete characterization of an irrigation tank. This type of data collection and processing will be very useful to help answer hydrology-related questions in environments that are constantly changing in the Arkavathy due to periods of heavy rainfall followed by dry periods, and will be applicable to other environmental or geophysical science-related applications.

1.6 Contributions

There are two distinct contributions that come from this thesis regarding the use of small, unmanned systems to assist in environmental measurements in a data-sparse region. Specifically, there is no standard method for integrating topographic and bathymetric information collected on a small-scale using these types of platforms.

1.6.1 Contribution 1

Demonstrate a low cost, multi-robot methodology that can be easily deployed in various water environments to collect topographic and bathymetric measurements. This approach will enable the navigation of previously unmapped water environments and improve information availability in developing, data-sparse regions.

1.6.2 Contribution 2

Demonstration of the fusion of topographic survey data and bathymetric point measurements to characterize partially dry water environments. Two low-cost unmanned vehicles, a USV and UAV, are used to successfully illustrate this concept.

1.7 Organization of This Thesis

This thesis is organized as follows:

- Chapter 2 begins with a thorough literature review of current field robotics applications for both UAVs and USVs, an overview of various topographic mapping methods, and surveying methodologies for generating bathymetric maps.
- Chapter 3 presents a methodology for producing topographic maps with UAVs, gathering bathymetric information with a USV, and fusing these two datasets together to generate a complete picture. The UAV and USV platforms used in this study are also discussed, and descriptions of three field case study sites are given: Hadonahalli tank, Nelamangala Lake, and SM Gollahalli tank.
- Chapter 4 discusses the field implementation at the three sites, including areas surveyed, UAV flight statistics, and field observations.
- Chapter 5 presents the results from both topographic and bathymetric mapping efforts. Stage-storage and stage-surface area relationships for each site are provided.
- Chapter 6 provides formative observations relating to the use of unmanned systems for environmental measurement, and discusses various aspects of the case study field sites.
- Chapter 7 finally presents conclusions in relation to each of the major findings, discusses special considerations, and suggests directions of future work.

CHAPTER 2

LITERATURE REVIEW

The goal of this study is to provide a feasible methodology for collecting and analyzing environmental measurements using low cost unmanned vehicles, specifically unmanned aerial vehicles (UAVs) and unmanned surface vehicles (USVs), in a developing, data-sparse region. This literature review discusses field robotics applications for both unmanned platforms, focusing largely on environmental information gathering. In addition, this section investigates current topographic and bathymetric data gathering techniques not limited to methods using UAVs or USVs.

2.1 Field Robotics-Related Applications for Unmanned Vehicles

2.1.1 UAVs

Unmanned aerial vehicles (UAVs) offer a viable platform for high resolution remote sensing due to their low cost and high flexibility. Small UAVs have been most effective for visual sensing over large areas, typically high-resolution video and image gathering, at varying temporal frequencies; additional work has investigated the use of small UAVs for environmental interaction [7,11]. Due to the flexibility of sensing payloads, a wide range of environmental sensing and investigation applications are possible with UAVs.

In rocky, landslide prone areas, UAVs have been used to generate a time-series analysis of landslide dynamics to monitor active and non-active areas of a landslide site in the Huon valley, Tasmania [12]. UAVs were also used to track the land cover changes of green algae using high resolution imagery over time [13]. For agricultural monitoring, fixed-wing UAV was fitted with a digital camera to successfully capture imagery at predefined waypoints to ensure adequate image overlap in an area in southeast Queensland, Australia [15]. To monitor spatial water variability in

a Pino-noir vineyard, high resolution thermal imagery was captured via UAV [16]. This imagery was compiled with canopy temperature information collected from infrared temperature sensors placed on top of well-watered and water-stressed grapevines to calculate the crop-water stress index.

In addition to environmental monitoring, UAVs have been used for surveillance and search and post-disaster rescue. In forest fires, UAVs missions could include surveillance, location, air quality monitoring, dispatching of first aid kits, supporting evacuation of residential areas, guiding personnel to safe zone [17]. In a field test study, search and rescue UAV applications were tested during an operational forest fire [17], illustrating the use of different payload systems and the reduction in risk to search and rescue personnel. UAVs have also been used to detect humans in post-disaster environments via the use of thermal and color imagery [18].

Additionally, UAVs have been used in multiple civil engineering applications, including monitoring construction progress [19], infrastructure health assessment [20], and road pavement health monitoring [21].

2.1.2 USVs

USVs have recently emerged as a viable platform for many marine operations, and are used by academic researchers, government personnel, and corporations [5]. Although there is not an official system for USV classification, the most commonly used descriptions are from the U.S. Navy USV Master Plan. The vehicles mainly focused on in this review are X-Class USVs, vehicles less than 3m in length, and Intermediate Class, vehicles between 3m and 7m, and are typically used for "low-end" intelligence operations, such as surveillance, reconnaissance, and environmental studies [4,9].

The most common uses of USVs are for observation and collection, as well as characterizing the physical environment [22]. A majority of the USV platforms being developed and tested by researchers are used for collecting environmental data. Typical environmental USV payloads include GPS, temperature, pH, chlorophyll A, conductivity, turbidity, mass spectrometers for measurement of volatile organics, and a wireless link for real-time data monitoring [10, 23]. One study completed a multi-parameter sampling campaign with multiple instruments along 20-kilometer stretch of Hillsboro River in Florida [10]. For geospatial analysis of the data, ArcView

was used to create contour maps and surface plots for visualization. Another USV platform was developed for environmental monitoring and sea patrol of fish stock survey, coral reef conditions, and water quality in Malaysia with the hopes that the autonomous USV platform would complete these tasks typically performed by Sea Patrol personnel more economically and efficiently [23]. The USV used in this case study was 2.96 meters long, and equipped with GPS, IMU, and a Fish Finder. A series of sea experiments were carried out in Johor, and the USV and onboard sensors performed successfully in monitoring the Malaysian coastline.

At the University of South Florida, researchers have developed a USV platform capable of either autonomous or operator controlled navigation and have deployed it with a multitude of environmental sensing payloads [6]. This USV incorporates commercially available parts to keep costs low. An Intermediate Class USV, the 'Wave Glider' from Liquid Robotics, was deployed to characterize a shallow-water sandbank environment where intensive aggregate extraction takes place [24]. Although these vehicles are larger and have the capabilities to navigate through more treacherous water environments with faster surface flows, for the purpose of deployment in areas difficult to access a smaller, more easily mobile platform is desired.

2.2 Topographic and Bathymetric Data Gathering

2.2.1 Topographic Map Generation

The first topographic map produced by the USGS was in 1879, the first year they were established [25]. These early maps were created by hand using tape and compass traverses, and a method known as "field sketching" to generate contour lines representing the terrain. Now, however, revolutions in mapping technologies, including survey techniques and instrumentation, satellite data, and aerial imagery, have drastically improved the accuracy, efficiency, and coverage of topographic mapping [25].

One of the more modern methods for generating topographic surveys is mapping the earth from space via satellite imagery. Most mapping in this category is performed using regional satellite imagery, from Landsat, SPOT, or some other low-resolution data set [26]. However, the resolution of these images is often too poor to perform traditional topographic mapping, and most of these projects are concerned with "thematic mapping" of land cover. In more recent years, high resolution satellite imagery (HSRI) is being used to generate more accurate topographic maps. For

example, IKONOS, a commercial earth observation satellite, provides high resolution imagery at a resolution of 1m as opposed to Landsat imagery with a resolution of 5m [27].

In addition to satellite imagery, Light Detection and Ranging (LiDAR) is a remote sensing technology that uses light in the form of pulsed lasers that measure ranges [28]. LiDAR systems typically consist of a laser, scanner, and GPS system, and are used with either airplanes or helicopters to survey large areas. LiDAR has been used to characterize terrestrial features, including topographic mapping [29,30], geomorphic features of deep-seated landslides [31], tidal channel geomorphology [32], river environments [33], and streams and forest canopies [34]. LiDAR scanners have also been used to characterize to coean surface topography after completing low-altitude surveys (<300m) with 2D scanners [35].

While LiDAR scanners have the capabilities to generate high resolution data sets, these platforms are typically too expensive for high temporal surveys; thus, small UAVs have emerged as a low-cost alternative that produces similar results at low altitude levels [36-38]. These aerial vehicles can be programmed to fly autonomously in straight line grid-like patterns to ensure optimal digital photo overlap, which are then used in 3D model reconstruction. This methodology has been shown to produce high resolution topographic information for a wide range of terrestrial environments, including glacial areas [39], coastal environments [38], and agricultural watersheds [40]. With the help of computer vision techniques, UAVs have been deployed to produce 2 cm resolution 3D surface models to capture micro-topography of Antarctic moss beds [41], illustrating the wide range and high precision applications for topographic mapping with small unmanned aerial vehicles.

2.2.2 Bathymetric Map Generation

Before the availability of modern surveying technologies, early hydrographic surveyors used a hand-held rope, weighted at one end with a 10-pound piece of lead that a leadsman lowered until it touched bottom, when he would read and record the depth manually. This measure of depth is known as a sounding [42]. Early in the 20th Century the wire drag method was improved, which involved the sweeping of an area with a wire at a preset depth extended between two vessels [42]. This method proved very useful because it identified potential sub-surface hazards for ships.

Modern research efforts have resulted in acoustic technologies, including both single beam and multibeam sonar instrumentation, as the current norm for generating bathymetric data. In ocean environments where the movement of the waves may cause significant error, multibeam echo sounders have been used to correct for the boats movement [43]. To map areas off the southeastern shore of Italy, a multibeam echo sounder collected data over an 800 km² area [44]. A cruiser carried four acoustic sounders all operating at different frequencies, all collecting relevant depth information. This work resulted in the identification of displaced sediments, failure scars, and areas of erosion. Another study used multibeam echo sounder to determine the depth of the Marina Trench, one of the deepest parts of the world's oceans [45]. Using multibeam echo sounder, the deepest part of the trench was determined with ± 25 m accuracy.

In smaller water environments, such as lakes, rivers, or estuaries, smaller boats are typically used with highly portable instrumentation. For the past 20 years, the USGS has been conducting bathymetric surveys using various fathometer, or echo sounding, instrumentation [46]. Sonar, satellite imagery, and GPS were used to generate a bathymetric map for Lake Tana in Ethiopia [47]. A commercially available Garmin[™] fish finder and a handheld GNSS receiver were chosen to collect depth and horizontal positioning information for their low cost, compactness, and high portability. Another study used a Lowrance Electronics sonar instrument (~US\$1,000) with GPS to collect depth information near a coral reef off the Belize coast [48]. In both cases, the collected data were process in ArcGIS to generate bathymetric maps.

In addition to surveying performed on the water's surface, water-penetrating LiDAR green light decomposition algorithms have been developed to determine depths of shallow water environments [49]. Airborne Light Detection and Ranging (LiDAR) is an active remote sensing technique used to acquire 3D representations of objects with very high resolution [50]. For this study, a continuous wavelet transformation (CWT) was applied to two full-waveform LiDAR datasets for the Snake River in Wyoming and the confluence of the Blue and Colorado Rivers in Colorado, which had depths of < 2 m each. The mixed LiDAR signal produced by water surface and water bottom reflections was processed to extract both surface and bottom location with ~3cm accuracy in mostly clear water; however, this method is very limited in terms of applicable water environments.

CHAPTER 3

METHODOLOGY

The proposed approach is described in detail within this chapter. This chapter starts with introductions to the general region of interest and a description of each case study site. Following that, the USV and UAV platforms and equipment setup are described in detail, including the sensors and payloads used. Finally, the workflow for processing the data into topographic and bathymetric maps, and stage-storage and stage-surface area relationships is presented. This includes creating a digital elevation model, spatial calculations performed in a GIS, and surface interpolation.

3.1 Region of Interest

The area of interest for this field study was the Arkavathy River Basin, adjacent to Bangalore City in Karnataka, India (13.0°N, 77.6°E), with a population of approximately 10 million. The watershed in this area is largely flat, with over 85% having gentle slopes of less than 3% [51]. Yearly rainfall averages 900 mm, which occurs mainly during the southeast (June-September) and northeast (October-December) monsoon seasons. The river network in this watershed is punctuated by hundreds of man-made reservoirs that are referred to as "tanks". These tanks consist of a dam and a land depression. The tanks fill in the monsoon season and used to support agriculture until groundwater displaced their use in the 20th century [52].



Figure 3.1: Location of the Arkavathy River Basin outlined in red in the state of Karnataka, India. The basin is just west of Bangalore city, and is made up of two sub-water sheds: TG Halli and Hesaraghatta sub-watersheds.

To demonstrate data collection with UAVs, USVs, and a combined approach, three field case study sites within the Arkavathy River Basin have been chosen due to various physical attributes: Hadonahalli tank, Nelamangala Lake, and SM Gollahalli tank. Additionally, these sites are frequently monitored by local researchers, and improving information availability for these locations is more beneficial compared to other potential case study sites. Figure 3.2 shows the locations of each study site relative to Bangalore city.



Figure 3.2: Location of the three case study sites: Hadonahalli tank, SM Gollahalli tank, and Nelamangala Lake, all located within 50 km from Bangalore city. These sites are frequently monitored by local researchers, and providing additional measurements at these locations will aid researchers' efforts.

3.2 Field Case Studies

The first area of study was Hadonahalli tank, located about 30 miles north of Bangalore city. This area of this tank surveyed was just over 202,000 m², with a total elevation change of approximately 11.5 meters from the lowest to the highest points in the tank. Small pockets and depressions with sharp changes in elevation were prevalent due to locals desilting the area. During the data collection period, this tank remained largely dry with large areas of minimal tree cover, thus Hadonahalli was an ideal candidate for topographic mapping via UAVs.



Figure 3.3: Boundary of Hadonahalli tank surveyed with a UAV. The total area was approximately 202,000 m², and had areas of steep elevation changes as well as areas of relatively flat topography. The west end of the tank had medium tree cover, and the east side of the tank was relatively clear of vegetation.

The second case study site was Nelamangala Lake, located in west Bangalore. The total area surveyed with the USV was 8,200 m². Parts of the lake were easily accessible as it was surrounded by an access road on the north and east shorelines from which USV deployment took place. Local researchers study this lake and surrounding areas to understand water quantity and quality issues; therefore, the information collected from this lake is of value.



Figure 3.4: Location of Nelamangala Lake. The outline in blue refers to the boundary of the portion of the lake surveyed with a USV, which measured approximately 8,200 m². A majority of the west side of the lake was heavily covered in vegetation and was incapable of being navigated through with the USV.

The third area of study is SM Gollahalli irrigation tank, located 25 miles North of Bangalore City. The total area of SM Gollahalli is about 44,000 m², with a maximum elevation change of just over 9 meters in the tank. During the data collection period, a large portion of this tank was fully submerged due to the monsoon rains, and a majority of the northeast area of the tank was free of tree cover. At this location a UAV was used to collect topographic information in unsubmerged areas, and the USV platform was deployed to collected depth point readings in the submerged portion.



Figure 3.5: Boundary of SM Gollahalli tank surveyed with a UAV and USV, highlighted in blue. The area surveyed aerially was $44,000 \text{ m}^2$. The middle portion of the tank had dense tree cover; however, this area was generally very flat and important topography changes were not missed with the UAV.

3.3 Equipment and Setup

3.3.1 UAV Platform and Payload

To collect imagery for the generation of topographic maps, the small UAV platform used for this study is the Iris quadcopter by 3D Robotics (3DR). The Iris is equipped with a 3DR uBlox LEA-6 GPS, Radio Telemetry at 915 MHz, and has up to a 1 km radio range. The Iris offers ~10-20 minute flight time depending on payload, and has a payload capacity of 400 g. All hardware, software, and firmware are open-source, including ArduCopter 3.2, a complete UAV platform offering both remote control (RC) and autonomous flight options. The imaging payload used is the Sony ActionCam Mini, which contains a 1/2.3 in-type back-illuminated Exmor R® CMOS sensor and has GPS logging capabilities. A forward-facing mounting bracket is used to attach the ActionCam to the UAV at 60 degrees from horizontal to ensure that sudden changes in elevation were adequately captured.



Figure 3.6: (a) Iris quadcopter by 3D Robotics. The Iris is 100 mm tall and has a motor-tomotor measurement of 550 mm. It can carry a payload up to 400 g and has a radio range of up to 1km. (b) Remote Control used for both manual and automatic control of the Iris. The radio telemetry operates at 915 MHz.

Mission Planner for Windows, developed by DroneCode, serves as the ground control station for the Iris quadcopter. Each flight grid is carefully pre-planned in Mission Planner to ensure coverage of the entire tank as well as adequate image overlap. Various altitudes, waypoints, speeds, and takeoff/landing points are specified according to the topography and layout of each site. These carefully developed flight plans are then loaded into the Iris, allowing for a fully autonomous flight.



Figure 3.7: Mission Planner Software and flight planning interface. Waypoints can be manually entered in a grid-like pattern and loaded into the Iris for a fully automated flight. Mission Planner can also specify various flight parameters, such as ground speed, altitude, takeoff and landing locations, and can task the Iris to perform 360 panoramic turns.

3.3.2 USV Platform and Payload

The vehicle used in this study is a custom micro USV airboat built by Dr. Joshua Peschel and his research group, capable of navigating small tortuous spaces. The USV is 0.5 m in length, can operate with up to a 2.25 kg payload, and is equipped with a 5.8-GHz transmitter capable of sending video, telemetry, and sampling data. Battery life for continuous operation is approximately 4 hours, allowing for long range data collection missions.

To measure depth below the surface, a HawkEye hand-held sonar depth finder was fixed to the USV. This lightweight portable depth finder gives instantaneous depth readings within 2.5 to 99 feet to the nearest .1 foot with \pm 5% accuracy. This instrument has a 30 hour continuous-use battery life and is ideal for continual operation with the USV platform. Because the HawkEye does not have data logging capabilities, to capture the readings at various time intervals the same GPS-

enabled Sony HDR ActionCam was fixed to the USV (see Figure 3.8). This provided a geotagged depth reading as the USV traversed across various water environments.



Figure 3.8: Setup of the USV airboat, HawkEye sonar depth finder, and Sony ActionCam. A counterweight was required to keep the USV balanced while the HawkEye instrument was fixed to one side in order to remain flat against the top of the water's surface.

3.4 UAV Image Processing Workflow

To produce hydrologically useful information from UAV imagery, the images went through a series of steps to extract and process depth, surface area, and GPS information. First, the images were dewarped and processed in Agisoft PhotoScan to produce a Digital Elevation Model (DEM). Next, the DEM was exported into ArcGIS software capable of intensive geospatial analysis. Within ArcGIS, a series of calculations were performed to calculate storage volumes at various water levels.

3.4.1 Digital Elevation Model Generation

After completing all flight missions, the images collected with the ActionCam went through a fisheye effect removal process. Then, the dewarped images were processed into 3D surface models using Agisoft PhotoScan. To generate a textured 3D surface model, PhotoScan first finds matching

points and overlaps the images to build a sparse point cloud model. Then, the program calculates depth information for each camera position and combines this information into a single dense point cloud, while applying aggressive depth filtering. After the dense point cloud is reconstructed, polygonal mesh is generated. From the polygonal mesh stage, the model is exported into a DEM at a maximum effective resolution (as determine by PhotoScan).

3.4.2 Spatial Calculations in GIS

First, the DEM was imported as a raster dataset into ArcMap. All grid cells in the dataset that are not in the boundary of the tank were masked out, and areas of heavy tree cover were filtered and leveled. To determine the leveled elevation of the trees, an average value using 20 data points around the area of tree cover was used

Storage volumes were calculated for various levels within the tank. At each stage value, all grid cells with an elevation higher than the water elevation were masked out and the remaining cells represented the "submerged" area. The quantity of grid cells at each elevation was pulled from the attribute table. This information was used in Equation 3.1 to calculate storage volume:

$$V_i = \sum_{i=1}^{S} A_c * n_i * E_i$$
(3.1)

Where:

 V_i = total storage volume at stage level *S* [L³] S = stage level, in integer increments ranging from minimum to maximum tank elevation [L] A_c = spatial area resolution of grid cell [L²] n_i = number of grid cells at elevation *i* [dimensionless] E_i = elevation value of each cell at stage level *i* [L]

Similarly, surface area S_i in feet squared was calculated as follows:

$$S_i = \sum_{i=1}^{S} A_c * n_i \tag{3.2}$$

3.5 USV Data Processing

To produce stage-storage and stage-surface area relationships from geotagged depth readings obtained from the USV, the data points were entered into ArcGIS and interpolated and smoothed over the area of interest to generate bathymetry.

3.5.1 Bathymetric Surface Generation

From the recorded images, GPS coordinates were extracted from the EXIF data, and the depth readings manually entered into a dataset. This dataset was imported into ArcGIS for interpolation. The spline method was used for interpolating a bathymetric surface from individual data points. This method is preferred as it ensures the surface passes through each data point while minimizing the overall surface curvature, and can predict ridges and valleys in the data [53]. The result from spline interpolation is a smooth raster surface from which storage and surface area calculations can be performed in a manner identical to 3.3.2

3.6 UAV and USV Data Fusion

When the area of interest is partially submerged and partially dry, data acquisition is performed with both the UAV and USV. Each dataset is collected separately. The initial processing of the topographic and bathymetric maps are similar as the methods presented Sections 3.3 and 3.4; however, to replace the submerged topographic surfaces with USV measurements, additional manipulations are required. It is important to ensure the spatial resolution in the GIS interpolation settings match the spatial resolution of the DEM generated by UAV data; additionally, the coordinate systems must be identical for the data merging to be successful. If these conditions are met, the interpolated surface from USV data can replace areas in the topographic map that were submerged during the time of photo acquisition.

CHAPTER 4

IMPLEMENTATION

The methodology discussed in Chapter 3 is implemented for all case study sites. To illustrate topographic and bathymetric measurement with unmanned vehicle platforms, data collection campaigns were successfully completed with a UAV at Hadonahalli tank, with a USV at Nelamangala Lake, and with both a UAV and USV at SM Gollahalli tank.

4.1 Field Case Studies

4.1.1 Hadonahalli Tank

To perform a complete survey of Hadonahalli tank, 6 autonomous UAV flights were completed on July 14, 2015 with the flight statistics as listed in Table 4.1, including time of takeoff, total flight duration, average altitude, set speed, number of waypoints reached, and total number of images recorded. The Sony ActionCam was set to record images every 2 seconds to ensure at least 60-80% image overlap for post-processing.

Date	Time	Duration	Altitude	Set Speed	# Waypoints	# Images
7-14-2015	08:44 AM	11 min	50 m	5 m/s	15	244
7-14-2015	09:19 AM	10 min	45 m	5 m/s	14	214
7-14-2015	09:52 AM	10 min	35 m	5 m/s	19	218
7-14-2015	10:20 AM	10 min	40 m	5 m/s	16	204
7-14-2015	10:40 AM	6 min	40 m	5 m/s	7	124
7-14-2015	11:00 AM	5 min	40 m	5 m/s	6	118

 Table 4.1: Flight Statistics for Hadonahalli Tank





Figure 4.1: Original and dewarped sample images taken at Hadonahalli with the UAV and ActionCam. (a) Original image at 30m altitude with fisheye effect. (b) Dewarped image after removing fisheye effects. Note the many sharp elevation changes and depressions in this area of the tank. (c) Original image at 30 m altitude. (d) Dewarped image. Note the difference in topography of this section that is relatively flat with moderate tree cover.

A total of 639 images with a resolution of 1920 x 1080 pixels were taken with the UAV platform. The fisheye effect, which is inherent to the Sony ActionCam, was removed using GNU Image Manipulation Program (GIMP), an open source image editor. Each image was corrected using the lens distortion tool with a "Main" distortion value of -40%, a "Zoom" value of 5%, and a "Y shift" value of 5%. The dewarped images were then processed in Agisoft, and the processing time was approximately 1.5 hours total. The resulting textured surface model is shown below in Figure 4.2. The DEM exported from this Agisoft model had a spatial resolution of 0.30 meters.



Figure 4.2: 3D textured surface representation of Hadonahalli tank in Agisoft PhotoScan. This textured three-dimensional model is then exported as a Digital Elevation Model for further processing.

4.1.2 Nelamangala Lake

The USV was deployed to collect bathymetric data in Nelamangala Lake. Due to access difficulties (the access road bordered only the northwest and northeast shoreline and most of the south and east areas of the lake were covered by dense, aquatic vegetation) only a portion of the lake was investigated. To gather bathymetric data for the accessible portion of Nelamangala Lake, 2 USV deployments were made on July 30, 2015. The total time it took to collect 816 depth recordings was 28 minutes, covering an area approximately 8,200 m². The resulting spatial interpolation model resulted in a resolution of 0.234 meters.



Figure 4.3: Visualization of GPS tagged bathymetric photos at Nelamangala Lake. Each red dot represents a photo taken of the HawkEye depth finder reading; an example is shown below in Figure 4.4.



Figure 4.4: Sample image of a HawkEye Depth reading at Nelamangala Lake. The depth reading for each image was manually recorded, stored as a .csv along with extracted GPS information, and imported into GIS for surface interpolation.

4.1.3 SM Gollahalli Tank

To gather aerial imagery at SM Gollahalli tank, 5 autonomous UAV flights were completed on July 3, 2015 with the flight statistics as listed in Table 4.2. The Sony ActionCam was set to record images every 2 seconds.

Date	Time	Duration	Altitude	Set Speed	# Waypoints	# Images Used
7-3-2015	08:16 AM	14 min	30 m	5 m/s	15	268
7-3-2015	08:33 AM	15 min	40 m	5 m/s	14	182
7-3-2015	08:59 AM	10 min	40 m	5 m/s	19	186
7-3-2015	09:13 AM	9 min	40 m	5 m/s	16	178
7-3-2015	09:25 AM	10 min	40 m	5 m/s	7	213

 Table 4.2: Flight Statistics for SM Gollahalli Tank



Figure 4.5: Original and dewarped sample images taken at SM Gollahalli with the UAV and ActionCam. (a) Original image at 30m altitude with fisheye effect. (b) Dewarped image after removing fisheye effects. (c) Original image at 40 m altitude. (d) Dewarped image.

The 08:16 AM flight differed from the rest and was tasked to be completed at an altitude of 30 meters, rather than 40 meters, to capture the large number of sharp edges and changes in elevation in the topography. After all 5 flights, a total of 447 images were corrected using the GIMP lens distortion tool with a "Main" distortion value of -40%, a "Zoom" value of 5%, and a "Y shift" value of 5%. The dewarped images were then processed in Agisoft, and the processing time was approximately 1 hour total. The resulting DEM for SM Gollahalli with data collected from UAV imagery had a spatial resolution of 0.23 meters.



Figure 4.6: 3D textured surface representation of SM Gollahalli tank in Agisoft PhotoScan. This textured three-dimensional model is then exported as a Digital Elevation Model for further processing.

To collect bathymetric information in the submerged areas of SM Gollahalli tank, a single USV deployment occurred (see Figure 4.7). A total of 373 images were collected during a 13 minute USV session. The ActionCam was set up to record an image of the HawkEye depth finder every 2 seconds. The route taken with the USV is shown in Figure 4.8; the submerged portion of the tank was entirely in the northern segment of the tank.



(a)



Figure 4.7: Field bathymetric surveys at SM Gollahalli tank. (a) Manual operation of the USV around SM Gollahalli collecting depth readings. (b) Deployment and retrieval of the USV at this site occurred without difficulty due to the accessibility of the submerged portion of the tank.



Figure 4.8: Visualization of the GPS tagged bathymetric photos throughout the north end of SM Gollahalli tank. Each red mark represents a photo taken of the HawkEye depth finder reading, shown below in Figure 4.9.



Figure 4.9: Sample image of a HawkEye Depth reading at SM Gollahalli tank. The depth reading for each image was manually recorded, stored as a .csv along with extracted GPS information, and imported into GIS for surface interpolation.

Within ArcGIS, the points collected with the USV were interpolated using the spline method to create a three-dimensional bathymetric surface. To ensure that this surface could merge with and match the spatial resolution to the UAV topographic map, a desired resolution of 0.23 meters was set to match the topographic DEM before interpolation as a setting in the ArcGIS Spline (Spatial Analyst) tool.

CHAPTER 5

RESULTS

The proposed workflow for UAV and USV image processing was tested. For each field study case, stage-storage and stage-surface area curves were produced, and the results for SM Gollahalli were compared to elevation validation points. Topographic and bathymetric contour maps were also created for all three case study sites.

5.1 Hadonahalli Tank

The resulting curves shown in Figures 5.1 and 5.2 illustrate the stage-storage and stage-surface area relationships for Hadonahalli tank. The stage-storage curve nearly conforms to an order 3 power law, with an R^2 value of .98. The two sharp jumps in the stage-surface area curve are largely due to the topography of the tank. Hadonahalli has small areas of steep bathymetry with sharp elevation changes as well as large areas of relatively flat bathymetry. The expansive, flat areas result in large increases in submerged surface area for a relatively small increase in stage. For this tank, there were two areas of heavy tree cover that were leveled out during GIS processing, each corresponding to a jump in the stage-surface area curve.



Figure 5.1: Stage- storage volume relationship for Hadonahalli tank and an order 3 power law curve fit. The R^2 value for the curve fit is 0.98.



Figure 5.2: Stage-surface area relationship for Hadonahalli tank. The two jumps in the stage-surface area curve are largely due to the topography of the tank and represent the elevations where areas of heavy tree cover had been leveled out.



Figure 5.3: Contour representation of Hadonahalli tank. The central areas of the tank had many sharp changes in elevation and small depressions, which are illustrated by the dense contours. The west and east areas of the tank remain relatively flat; this is also where filtering of the trees occurred.

5.2 Nelamangala Lake

The stage-storage and stage-surface area relationships for Nelamangala Lake are shown below in Figures 5.4 and 5.5, respectively. The bathymetry for Nelamangala Lake in the area of investigation had a total elevation change of 3.35 meters. The stage-storage curve nearly fit an order 3 power law, and had an R^2 value of 0.97.



Figure 5.4: Stage- storage volume relationship for Nelamangala Lake and an order 3 power law curve fit. The R^2 value for the curve fit is 0.97.



Figure 5.5: Stage- surface area relationship for Nelamangala Lake. At a water elevation of about 1.25 meters and greater the submerged surface area increases at a higher rate.



Figure 5.6: Contour representation of Nelamangala Lake. Due to the relatively small elevation change across this area of the lake, the contours produced are less dense compared to the bathymetric contours of Hadonahalli and SM Gollahalli tanks.

5.3 SM Gollahalli Tank

The stage-storage and stage-surface area relationships for SM Gollahalli tank are shown below in Figures 5.7 and 5.8, respectively. The stage-storage curve for the combined UAV and USV data conforms to an order 3 power law with an R^2 value of .99. The sharp jump in the stage-surface area curve is likely for similar reasons as Hadonahalli tank: the topography of the tank has areas of steep elevation changes as well as large areas of relatively flat bathymetry. SM Gollahalli was characterized by a single, flat area of heavy tree cover that was leveled out during GIS processing, which corresponds to the jump in the stage-surface area curve.

As expected, the results from the data fusion approach yield higher storage volume values for a given stage measurement. This is because the storage volume of submerged areas in the tank cannot be captured or quantified with UAV imagery; the supplemental measurements with the USV offer a more complete characterization of the stage -storage relationship in the tank.



Figure 5.7: Stage-storage volume relationship for SM Gollahalli tank, including the UAV only data, the UAV/USV data fusion results, and an order 3 power law curve fit to the combined UAV/USV curve with an R^2 value of 0.99.



Figure 5.8: Stage-storage volume relationship for SM Gollahalli tank, including the UAV only data and the UAV/USV data fusion results.



Figure 5.9: Contour representation of SM Gollahalli tank. The area of dense contours in the northern section of the tank illustrates the information added via measurement with a USV. The large, flat area in the middle portion of the tank represents the area of heavy tree cover that was filtered out and leveled.

Elevation points were previously collected for SM Gollahalli tank and were used for validation of the resulting bathymetry and stage-storage curve. The data used for validation included elevations of GPS points (numbered 326-345), all referenced to the water level at the time the measurements were taken (point 326). To compare the data, an average of 10 elevation values in the topographic map at each validation GPS point was calculated. Then, the changes in topographic elevation were calculated from the same reference level, point 326, for direct comparison (see Table 5.1).

Validation Elevation Data					UAV Topographic Data		
GPS Waypoint	Back Sight	Intermediate Sight	Reduced Level	Elevation Change	Average Elevation Values	Elevation	Elevation Change
326	2.09			0	901.1658	0	0
325		1.55	0.54	0.54	901.0937	-0.07214	-0.61214
327		1.64	-0.49	0.45	902.0713	0.905457	0.455457
328		1.73	-0.09	0.36	901.6047	0.438904	0.078904
329		1.72	0.01	0.37	901.277	0.111145	-0.25885
330		1.14	0.58	0.95	901.6408	0.474976	-0.47502
331		1.26	-0.12	0.83	902.3843	1.218445	0.388445
332		1.70	-0.44	0.39	900.9762	-0.18964	-0.57964
333		0.98	0.72	1.11	902.6026	1.436768	0.326768
334		0.73	0.25	1.36	902.8209	1.65509	0.29509
336		1.31	-0.58	0.78	902.2946	1.128723	0.348723
337		0.74	0.57	1.35	902.6824	1.516541	0.166541
338		1.24	-0.50	0.85	902.5933	1.427429	0.577429
339		0.68	0.56	1.41	902.8	1.634155	0.224155
340		1.13	-0.45	0.96	902.944	1.778137	0.818137
341		0.59	0.54	1.50	906.7615	5.595642	4.095642
342		0.47	0.12	1.62	903.623	2.457214	0.837214
343		1.53	-1.06	0.56	902.4372	1.271362	0.711362
344		0.98	0.55	1.11	903.1443	1.978516	0.868516
345		1.00	-0.02	1.09	903.386	2.220154	1.130154

Table 5.1: Elevation Validation Data for SM Gollahalli Tank (meters)

The largest deviation in elevation was 4.095642 meters. This is likely because waypoint 341 falls on the edge of a "cliff", or an area with a sudden, steep change in topography, where the location may correspond to either a low or high elevation. Disregarding this point due to uncertainty, changes in elevation ranged from -.61214 meters to 1.130154 meters. To determine the accuracy at each point in the stage-storage curve, the average change in elevation of all submerged waypoints was calculated (see Table 5.2). For each stage level, the average deviation from the validation elevation points range from -0.34293 to 0.281228 meters; namely, the topography at each stage level is accurate compared to the validation points to within \pm 0.35 meters.

Stage	Submerged Waypoints	Change in Elevation	Average Value	Stage	Submerged Waypoints	Change in Elevation	Average Value
5.18	325	-0.61214		7.01	325	-0.61214	
	329	-0.25885			329	-0.25885	
	332	-0.57964			332	-0.57964	
	328	0.078904	-0.34293		328	0.078904	
6.1	325	-0.61214			327	0.455457	
	329	-0.25885			343	0.711362	
	332	-0.57964			336	0.348723	
	328	0.078904			330	-0.47502	
	327	0.455457			331	0.388445	
	343	0.711362			333	0.326768	
	336	0.348723			337	0.166541	
	330	-0.47502	-0.0414		340	0.818137	
6.4	325	-0.61214			345	1.130154	
	329	-0.25885			334	0.29509	
	332	-0.57964			344	0.868516	0.244162
	328	0.078904		7.92	325	-0.61214	
	327	0.455457			329	-0.25885	
	343	0.711362			332	-0.57964	
	336	0.348723			328	0.078904	
	330	-0.47502			327	0.455457	
	331	0.388445			343	0.711362	
	333	0.326768			336	0.348723	
	337	0.166541	0.050049		330	-0.47502	
6.71	325	-0.61214			331	0.388445	
	329	-0.25885			333	0.326768	
	332	-0.57964			337	0.166541	
	328	0.078904			340	0.818137	
	327	0.455457			345	1.130154	
	343	0.711362			334	0.29509	
	336	0.348723			344	0.868516	
	330	-0.47502			342	0.837214	0.281228
	331	0.388445					
	333	0.326768					
	337	0.166541					
	340	0.818137					
	345	1.130154					
	334	0.29509	0.199566				

Table 5.2: Elevation Validation Data for SM Gollahalli Tank (meters)

CHAPTER 6

DISCUSSION

In this chapter, the results and performance of the unmanned vehicles used for data collection in this research are discussed in terms of time, ease of implementation, and overall effort. In the end, three formative observations are summarized, which refer to i) interpretation of the data fusion process using information collected from both UAV and USV systems; ii) observations for the human-robot interactions for USV and; iii) field observations for deployment and retrieval in water environments with low accessibility.

6.1 Time Discussion

Field deployment of unmanned systems is often time-sensitive due to weather, battery longevity, and other time-related constraints. It is important that these systems have the capability to cover large surface areas quickly and efficiently, especially in the case study sites presented here; field access for the sites in the Arkavathy was limited to one day at a time because it was difficult to travel to and from these rural areas. The UAV performed quite well under these constraints because of the quick setup time (typically less than 5 minutes). The light weight and mobility of the 3DR Iris enabled the 2-3 person team to navigate around each field site carrying all equipment without difficulty. In addition, 6 Lithium-ion battery packs were used to allow for 6 flights a day, which was enough for complete coverage of the irrigation tanks in the area. The setup of the USV was also very quick (5 minutes or less), enabling for efficient deployment. The battery life for the USV was up to 2 hours, which enabled the system to navigate around an entire irrigation tank or area of interest within a lake without changing batteries, and 2 batteries were used to very nearly eliminate battery life as a time constraint for USV operation. As the field sites were fairly small, battery life constraints were never an issue.

6.2 Ease of Implementation Discussion

Finding suitable takeoff and landing areas that are clear of foliage and adequately flat was the largest challenge in terms of UAV implementation. Also, it was important to operate the UAV at high enough altitudes to clear the tree line (this was a factor for image clarity and resolution rather than a major barrier to successful implementation). Deployment of the USV system in the field study areas proved to be successful and unchallenging when the depth requirements of the sonar instrumentation were met, and where access pathways or roads were available to get close enough to the water, such as in SM Gollahalli tank. However, at Nelamangala Lake where access was limited, USV implementation throughout the entire lake was not as feasible. However, the air propeller vessel did allow for smooth navigation through shallow and slightly obstructed water environments, including all irrigation tank and urban lake sites investigated.

6.3 Overall Effort Discussion

Topographic and bathymetric surveys of these water environments are ideally performed at high temporal frequencies, thus it would ideally require an unmanned system that takes little to no effort for field deployment. For planning UAV autonomous missions, the Mission Planner software is intuitive and user-friendly, and flights can be planned ahead of time or easily manipulated in the field requiring minimal effort. Both systems, including imaging payloads, the robot platform itself, and controllers, are small, compact, and easily transportable from site to site. The data collected for both platforms included geotagged images from a single camera resulting in straightforward data management and storage. Overall, the transport, management, and storage of the unmanned systems and their data are low-effort and suitable for high temporal frequency deployments in rural, data-sparse areas.

6.4 Formative Observations

After collecting topographic and bathymetric information, the fusion of these two datasets was quite laborious and time consuming. The creation of a single, cohesive analysis tool would significantly streamline this process. Observations for areas of improvement upon the human-robot

interaction (HRI) for USVs would significantly improve the systems overall performance, because there are currently no standard human roles present in the literature for unmanned surface vehicle applications [53]. Finally, field observations relating to accessibility do not enable the safe or successful deployment and retrieval of unmanned systems. Developing an apparatus or system that enables deployment and retrieval of unmanned vehicles in difficult environments will enable more efficient data collection in a majority of water environments.

6.4.1 Interpretation of the Data Fusion Process

Collecting information from UAVs and USVs separately requires the fusion of these two datasets to generate a physical characterization of each site. After manually processing and merging the topographic and bathymetric maps, it is clear that the data fusion process is laborious and not suitable for processing on a large scale. In addition, there is no standard, automated workflow for the generation of stage-storage or stage-surface area curves. It is necessary to improve this workflow efficiency via the development of a single cohesive analysis tool for sense-making. A more automated, streamlined process for sense-making with heterogeneous datasets that is not laborious will improve the data science and data processing portion of this case study.

6.4.2 Observations for the Human-Robot Interaction for USV

When operating the USVs in the field, many factors can affect or limit its performance; including but not limited to obstructions to line-of-sight vision and navigation of the robot if there is no video feed, physical obstacles in the water that may not be visible from shore, unknown battery health or sensor performance, etc. Improving upon the human-robot interaction for this type of USV field application would increase the operational efficiency of the custom USV platform used. By exploring various human-robot interfaces, such as the inclusion of visual navigation, sensor/payload feedback, or a battery life monitor, will enable the navigation of this USV platform in areas out of line of sight and enhance human situation awareness.

6.4.3 Field Observations Relating to USV Deployment and Retrieval

The successful deployment of the USV system requires a suitable point of access close enough to the shore to allow for the placement and retrieval of the robot. For small irrigation tanks, this was not an issue or barrier for USV use. However, for other water environments, shoreline access was minimal, leaving areas of the water body unobservable with the USV due to line of sight operational restrictions. To improve the accessibility of these areas of the lake, a type of deployment apparatus, such as a floating case, and a retrieval system, such as a tether to reel in the robot, can be developed. Physically taking the USV out of the water is quite often more difficult than placing it in the water, so even if deployment is not difficult, eliminating retrieval issues is especially critical for dangerous or unsafe environments.

CHAPTER 7 CONCLUSION

7.1 Summary

Collecting environmental measurements in extremely data sparse regions such as the Arkavathy Basin is difficult, especially at a temporal frequency that keeps pace with expected human impacts and environmental changes. Currently, satellite imagery and LiDAR are two standard methods to collect topographic and bathymetric information, but both options are either of too low resolution or too costly. The use of small unmanned systems in this study aimed to fill the need for low-cost, highly mobile platforms to collect environmental data in rural Karnataka. By collecting critical hydrological data accurately and efficiently where this information is not available, local water resources can more easily be managed both now and in the future. Additionally, this work is of interest to hydrologists and geoscientists who can use this methodology to assist in data collection and enhance their understanding of environmental processes.

Field investigations determined that unmanned vehicles, specifically unmanned aerial and unmanned surface vehicles, are suitable platforms for collecting topographic and bathymetric information in a rural, data-sparse region in India. Three locations in the Arkavathy River Basin serve as case studies for data collection with UAVs, USVs, and a combination of both platforms. Stage-storage and stage-surface area relationships were found for each case study, and topographic and bathymetric maps were created for each site as well. Three important formative observations were made regarding using UAVs and USVs for environmental measurement, including: i) interpretation of the data fusion workflow; ii) observations of the human-robot interaction for USV; and iii) field observations to help improve USV deployment and retrieval in inaccessible water environments. The data fusion approach between UAV and USV observations is lacking an automated, streamlined sense-making process. The current method for fusing the two data sets is very laborious an inefficient; therefore, improving upon the data processing workflow is critical to perform this type of data collection on a large-scale. This will be important for local researchers in the Arkavathy and other developing areas when using unmanned systems at high temporal frequencies in order to keep pace with processing and analyzing captured data.

Aspects of human-robot interaction for USVs in rural water environments is lacking, largely due to the fact that HRI is not well documented or developed for small unmanned surface vehicles. The exploration of various human-robot interfaces can improve USV mission efficiency and situation awareness. This is important for the USV operator so they can monitor the surrounding environment, respond to sensor or vehicle feedback, and gather the information required in the field during time-sensitive operations.

In the field, accessing certain water environments with unmanned vehicles can be difficult or dangerous. Even if USV deployment is simple, retrieval can be a very difficult task, especially in a situation when emergency retrieval becomes necessary. Developing an automated deployment and retrieval system will be important in removing a human operator from dangerous situations and improving accessibility. When these challenges are overcome, spatial and temporal coverage of data collection will improve, as well as researcher safety.

7.2 Special Considerations

There are two important considerations for this work. First, the spatial accuracy and resolution of the topographic and bathymetric maps are dependent on and limited to the GPS sensors used. For UAV mapping, the ActionCam recorded latitude and longitude locations with a standard GPS, which can reliably get 3 meter accuracy [54]. This was suitable for the large areas surveyed in this study. In smaller areas where changes in topography and elevation are very steep and sharp, it may be more important to know the precise relative location of points rather than their absolute coordinates. In this case, relative localization with more precise sensors may be a more suitable option. However, it is still required to collect absolute GPS information for reference.

Second, the bathymetric map generated from the USV data points is limited to the accuracy of the interpolation performed in GIS. Within ArcGIS there are many different interpolation options

offered, including but not limited to Inverse Distance Weighted, Kriging, Natural Neighbor, and Spline. For this work, the spline method was used because it generates a smooth surface and passes through all of the data points collected; however, the resulting map may have different minimum and maximum values than the data set and the functions are highly sensitive to outliers [55]. If there is greatly varying bathymetry, the surface resulting from spline interpolation may not be as accurate compared to other methods. It is possible to interpolate using multiple methods and then compare the results; however, there is no way to determine which method gives the most accurate surface because true bathymetry is unavailable for validation.

7.3 Future Work

There are a few areas for additional study. Firstly, the unmanned systems used for environmental measurement for these three case studies can be used to monitor a greater number of irrigation tanks and lakes in Arkavathy River Basin. A large-scale goal of this project is to improve the understanding of the Arkavathy watershed, including flow generation, recharge, and catchment water balance. By quantifying storage capacities of additional water bodies in the Arkavathy, local researchers will be able to understand these watershed mechanisms in greater depth. Secondly, researchers can use these platforms at a higher temporal frequency in the same bodies of water to understand changes in bathymetry and topography over time. Locals visit the irrigation tanks quite often to desilt and remove soil, potentially changing storage capacity. Also, factors affecting life times of lakes include sedimentation and water withdrawal rates, which are important variables to track over time. Thirdly, the USV sensing payloads can be adapted to improve environmental monitoring; for example, using pH, temperature, dissolved oxygen, or conductivity sensors. Monitoring water quality in lakes around the urban fringe of Bangalore can help address important health issues, track potential point and non-point sources of pollutants, and inform local policy on water quality standards.

REFERENCES

- Lele, S., Srinivasan, V., Jamwal, P., Thomas, B. K., Eswar, M. & Zuhail, T. M. (2013). WaterManagement In Arkavathy Basin: A situational analysis. Tech. Rep. 1, Ashoka Trust for Research in Ecology and the Environment, Bengaluru.
- [2] Klemas, V. V. (2015). Coastal and Environmental Remote Sensing from Unmanned Aerial Vehicles: An Overview. *Journal of Coastal Research*, 315, 1260–1267.
- [3] Suresh, T. 2001 An urban water scenario: A case study of the Bangalore metropolis, Karnataka, India. Regional management of water resources: Proceedings of a symposium held during the Sixth IAHS Scientific Assembly at Maastricht, The Netherlands, July 2001, pp. 97–104.
- [4] United States of America Department of NAVY, "The navy unmanned surface the navy unmanned surface vehicle (usv) master plan," United States of America Department of NAVY, Tech. Rep., 2007. [Online]. Available: http://www.navy.mil/navydata/technology/usvmppr.pdf
- [5] Manley, J. E. (2008). Unmanned surface vehicles, 15 years of development. *Oceans 2008*, 1–4.
- [6] Steimle, E. T., & Hall, M. L. (2006). Unmanned surface vehicles as environmental monitoring and assessment tools. *Oceans 2006*, 0–4.
- [7] Peschel, J.M. and R.R. Murphy. (2013). On the Human-Machine Interaction of Unmanned Aerial System Mission Specialists. IEEE Transactions on Human-Machine Systems, 43(1): 53-62.
- [8] M. Bibuli, M. Caccia, L. Lapierre, and G. Bruzzone, "Guidance of unmanned surface vehicles: Experiments in vehicle following," Robotics & Automation Magazine, IEEE, vol. 19, no. 3, pp. 92–102, 2012.
- [9] Handa, S. (2015). Human-Machine Interaction for Unmanned Surface Systems. Master's Thesis. University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign, Urbana, Illinois.
- [10] Casper, A. F., Hall, M. L., Dixon, B., & Steimle, E. T. (2007). Combining data collection from unmanned surface vehicles with geospatial analysis: Tools for improving surface water sampling, monitoring, and assessment. *Oceans Conference Record (IEEE)*, 0–5.

- [11] Peschel, J.M. (2012). Towards Physical Object Manipulation by Small Unmanned Aerial Systems. In Proceedings of the 10th IEEE Symposium on Safety, Security, and Rescue Robotics, College Station, TX.
- [12] Turner, D., Lucieer, A., & de Jong, S. (2015). Time Series Analysis of Landslide Dynamics Using an Unmanned Aerial Vehicle (UAV). *Remote Sensing*, 7(2), 1736–1757.
- [13] Flynn, K., & Chapra, S. (2014). Remote Sensing of Submerged Aquatic Vegetation in a Shallow Non-Turbid River Using an Unmanned Aerial Vehicle. *Remote Sensing*, 6(12), 12815–12836.
- [14] S. Savitz, I. Blickstein, P. Buryk, R. W. Button, P. DeLuca, J. Dryden, J. Mastbaum, J. Osburg, P. Padilla, and A. Potter. (2013). "US navy employment options for unmanned surface vehicles (usvs)," DTIC Document, Tech. Rep.
- [15] Jensen, T., Zeller, L., & Apan, A. (2011). The use of an unmanned aerial vehicle as a remote sensing platform in agriculture. *Australian Journal of Multi-Disciplinary Engineering*, 8(2), 139–147.
- [16] Bellvert, J., Zarco-Tejada, P. J., Girona, J., & Fereres, E. (2013). Mapping crop water stress index in a "Pinot-noir" vineyard: comparing ground measurements with thermal remote sensing imagery from an unmanned aerial vehicle. *Precision Agriculture*, 1–16.
- [17] Karma, S., Zorba, E., Pallis, G. C., Statheropoulos, G., Balta, I., Mikedi, K., Statheropoulos, M., et al. (2015). Use of unmanned vehicles in search and rescue operations in forest fires: Advantages and limitations observed in a field trial. *International Journal of Disaster Risk Reduction*, 13, 307–312.
- [18] Rudol, P.; Doherty, P. (2008). "Human Body Detection and Geolocalization for UAV Search and Rescue Missions Using Color and Thermal Imagery," in *Aerospace Conference*, 2008 *IEEE*, pp.1-8.
- [19] Vacanas, Y., Themistocleous, K., Agapiou, A., & Hadjimitsis, D. (2015). Building Information Modelling (BIM) and Unmanned Aerial Vehicle (UAV) technologies in infrastructure construction project management and delay and disruption analysis, 9535, 95350C.
- [20] Máthé, K., & Buşoniu, L. (2015). Vision and Control for UAVs: A Survey of General Methods and of Inexpensive Platforms for Infrastructure Inspection. Sensors (Vol. 15).
- [21] Zhang, C., & Elaksher, A. (2012). An unmanned aerial vehicle-based imaging system for 3D measurement of unpaved road surface distresses. *Computer-Aided Civil and Infrastructure Engineering*, 27(2), 118–129.

- [22] Savitz, S., Blickstein, I., Buryk, P., Button, R., DeLuca, P., Dryden, J., et al. (2005). U.S. Navy Employment Options for UNMANNED SURFACE VEHICLES (USVs). RAND National Defense Research Institute.
- [23] Yaakob, O., Mohamed, Z., & Hanafiah, M. (2012). Development of Unmanned Surface Vehicle (USV) for Sea Patrol and Environmental Monitoring. *Academia.Edu*, (October), 20– 22.
- [24] Van Lancker, V., & Baeye, M. (2015). Wave Glider Monitoring of Sediment Transport and Dredge Plumes in a Shallow Marine Sandbank Environment. *PLoS ONE*, 10(6), e0128948.
- [25] "Topographic Mapping". *National Mapping Division, U.S. Geological Survey*. Online. Retrieved from: http://pubs.usgs.gov/gip/topomapping/topo.html#mapping
- [26] Holland, D. a., Boyd, D. S., & Marshall, P. (2006). Updating topographic mapping in Great Britain using imagery from high-resolution satellite sensors. *ISPRS Journal of Photogrammetry and Remote Sensing*, 60(3), 212–223.
- [27] Topan, H., Maktav, D., Jacobsen, K., & Buyuksalih, G. (2009). Information content of optical satellite images for topographic mapping. *International Journal of Remote Sensing*, 30(7), 1819-1827.
- [28] "What is LIDAR?" NOAA National Ocean Service. Online. Retrieved from: http://oceanservice.noaa.gov/facts/lidar.html.
- [29] Haugerud, R. a., Harding, D. J., Johnson, S. Y., Harless, J. L., Weaver, C. S., & Sherrod, B. L. (2003). High-resolution lidar topography of the Puget Lowland, Washington A bonanza for earth science. *GSA Today*, *13*(6), 4–10.
- [30] Brock, J., et al. (2002). "Basis and Methods of NASA Airborne Topographic Mapper Lidar Surveys for Coastal Studies". *J. of Coastal Research* 18.1: 1–13.
- [31] Kasai, M., Ikeda, M., Asahina, T., & Fujisawa, K. (2009). LiDAR-derived DEM evaluation of deep-seated landslides in a steep and rocky region of Japan. *Geomorphology*, *113*(1-2), 57–69.
- [32] Lohani, B., Mason, D.C., (2001). Application of airborne scanning laser altimetry to the study of tidal channel geomorphology. ISPRS Journal of Photogrammetry and Remote Sensing 56, 100–120.
- [33] Charlton, M.E., Large, A.R.G., Fuller, I.C., (2003). Application of airborne lidar in river environments: the river Coquet, Northumberland, UK. Earth Surface Processes and Landforms 28, 299–306

- [34] James, L.A., Watson, D.G., Hansen, W.F., (2006). Using LiDAR data to map gullies and headwater stream under forest canopy: South Carolina, USA. Catena 71, 132–144.
- [35] Vrbancich, J., Lieff, W., & Hacker, J. (2011). Demonstration of two portable scanning LiDAR systems flown at low-altitude for investigating coastal sea surface topography. *Remote Sensing*, 3(9), 1983–2001.
- [36] Niethammer, U., James, M.R., Rothmund, S., Travelletti, J., Joswig, M., (2012). UAV-based remote sensing of the Super-Sauze landslide: evaluation and results. Eng. Geol. 128, 2–11.
- [37] Carrivick, J.L., Smith, M.W., Quincey, D.J., Carver, S.J., (2013). Developments in budget remote sensing for the geosciences. Geol. Today 29, 138–143.
- [38] Mancini, F., Dubbini, M., Gattelli, M., Stecchi, F., Fabbri, S., & Gabbianelli, G. (2013). Using unmanned aerial vehicles (UAV) for high-resolution reconstruction of topography: The structure from motion approach on coastal environments. *Remote Sensing*, *5*(12), 6880–6898.
- [39] Tonkin, T. N., Midgley, N. G., Graham, D. J., & Labadz, J. C. (2014). The potential of small unmanned aircraft systems and structure-from-motion for topographic surveys: A test of emerging integrated approaches at Cwm Idwal, North Wales. *Geomorphology*, 226, 35–43.
- [40] Ouédraogo, M.M., Degré, A., Debouche, C., Lisein, J., (2014). The evaluation of unmanned aerial system-based photogrammetry and terrestrial laser scanning to generate DEMs of agricultural watersheds. Geomorphology 214, 339–355.
- [41] Lucieer, A., Turner, D., King, D. H., & Robinson, S. a. (2014). Using an unmanned aerial vehicle (UAV) to capture micro-topography of antarctic moss beds. *International Journal of Applied Earth Observation and Geoinformation*, 27(PARTA), 53–62.
- [42] "Hydrographic Survey Techniques". National Oceanic and Atmospheric Association. Revised July 19, 2012. Online. Retrieved from: http://celebrating200years.noaa.gov/ breakthroughs/hydro_survey/welcome.html
- [43] National Geographic. Bathymetric Encyclopedic Entry. Online. Retrieved from: http://education.nationalgeographic.com/encyclopedia/bathymetry/
- [44] Savini, A., & Corselli, C. (2010). High-resolution bathymetry and acoustic geophysical data from Santa Maria di Leuca Cold Water Coral province (Northern Ionian Sea—Apulian continental slope). *Deep Sea Research Part II: Topical Studies in Oceanography*, 57(5-6), 326–344.
- [45] Gardner, J. V., Armstrong, A. a., Calder, B. R., & Beaudoin, J. (2014). So, How Deep Is the Mariana Trench? *Marine Geodesy*, *37*(1), 1–13.

- [46] Flocks, J., Marot, M., McCarty, P., Weise, D., Connor, P., and Noakes, S. (2002). Chapter B: New Field Sampling Techniques and Data Description. U.S. Geological Survey Professional Paper 1634: Lake Pontchartrain Basin: Bottom Sediments and Related Environmental Factors.
- [47] Dost, R. J. J., & Mannaerts, C. M. M. (2008). Generation of lake bathymetry using Sonar, Satellite Imagery and GIS. 2008 Esri International User Conference Proceedings, (1), 1–5.
- [48] Ecochard, J. B. (2003). Case Study : Mapping Half Moon Caye 's Reef Using the Adaptive Bathymetric System (ABS) Foreword : What is ABS and what can it do for me? *Data Processing*.
- [49] Pan, Z., Glennie, C., Hartzell, P., Fernandez-Diaz, J., Legleiter, C., & Overstreet, B. (2015). Performance Assessment of High Resolution Airborne Full Waveform LiDAR for Shallow River Bathymetry. *Remote Sensing*, 7(5), 5133–5159.
- [50] Wehr, A.; Lohr, U. (1999). Airborne laser scanning—An introduction and overview. ISPRS J. Photogramm. Remote Sensing. 54, 68–82
- [51] ISRO (Indian Space Research Organisation) & IN-RIMT (Indian Resources Information & Management Technologies Pvt. Ltd) 2000 Reduced inflow into Tippagondanahalli Reservoir (TGR): A remote sensing based evaluation.Tech. rep., Indian Space Research Organisation, Bangalore Metropolitan Region Development Authority (BMRDA).
- [52] Shah, E. (2003). Social designs: Tank irrigation technology and agrarian transformation in Karnataka, South India. Bangalore, India: Orient Longman.
- [53] Peschel, J.M. and S. Handa. (2015). Human-Machine Interaction for Unmanned Surface Systems. *IEEE Transactions on Human-Machine Systems (in review)*.
- [54] "GPS Accuracy". Official U.S. Government information about the Global Positioning System (GPS) and related topics. Online. Retrieved from: http://www.gps.gov/systems/ gps/performance/accuracy/
- [55] Azupura, M., & Dos Ramos, K. (2010). A Comparison of Spatial Interpolation Methods for Estimation of Average Electromagnetic Field Magnitude. *Progress In Electromagnetics Research M*, 14(September), 135–145.